**I. NATURE OF PROCEEDING AND RULING BELOW**

Chesdon James Haught, age 23, was indicted in September 2003 by a Monongalia County Grand Jury on the charges of Kidnapping, First Degree Robbery, and Domestic Battery. The Honorable Robert B. Stone sat as Judge. The State was represented by Assistant Prosecutor, Kathleen Kern. Mr. Haught was represented by Morgantown lawyer Edward L. Harman, Jr., with the law firm Spilman Thomas & Battle, PLLC.

On March 13, 2004, Judge Stone dismissed the First Degree Robbery charge at

the end of the evidence. On the same day, following a four day trial, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty to petit larceny, a verdict of guilty to Kidnapping with a recommendation of mercy, and a verdict of guilty to Domestic Battery. At sentencing, Judge Stone made several findings of fact pursuant to West Virginia Code §61-2-14(a) and sentenced Mr. Haught to the custody of the West Virginia Department of Corrections for life on the Kidnapping conviction and to the North Central Regional Jail for one year on the Domestic Battery conviction. Judge Stone ran said sentences concurrent. Mr. Haught petitions this Court for an appeal of that conviction. The statutory appeal period has not been extended in this matter.

## **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On the evening of April 24, 2003, Stephanie Hilton and Brittany Warnick went to a bar in downtown Morgantown, West Virginia. Hilton testified that she drank probably four to five beers at the Z Club (Hilton direct at page 207, lines 12-19) and Warnick added that she was under the influence of alcohol (Warnick cross at page 177, lines 9-21). Hilton and Warnick left the Z Club and drove around in Hilton's Mazda 626. While driving on Van Voorhis Road, Hilton struck a curb and caused a tire blowout (Hilton direct at page 208, lines 3-5). Hilton was able to drive the car approximately 200 feet to Warnick's boyfriend, Donald Abduhl's, trailer (Hilton direct at page 208, lines 7-8).

Hilton and Warnick entered the trailer at some point after 1:00 a.m. (Hilton cross at page 21, lines 9-14) and told Abduhl about the accident. At 1:07 a.m., the first person Hilton calls is Chesdon Haught at his house in Pennsylvania. This first call is made at 1:07 a.m. (Hilton cross at page 22, lines 6-24). At 1:11 a.m. Haught calls Hilton's cellular telephone, and at 1:15 a.m., Hilton calls Haught again (Hilton cross at page 25, lines 1-

15). Hilton testified that she did not want Haught to come to the trailer, but the first two telephone calls she makes from Abduhl's trailer are to Haught. Haught became aware that Hilton had an accident and offered to come and help (Hilton cross at page 25, lines 18-21).

After speaking with Haught, Hilton decided to call her mother and ask for help. At 1:21 a.m. and 1:22 a.m., Hilton placed two calls to her mother's house in Kingwood, West Virginia (Hilton direct at page 211, lines 1-2). Hilton asked her mother to call AAA and have someone come and fix the tire. AAA was called and a tow truck driver was dispatched. Hilton testified that she was going to stay at the trailer, but she still called AAA to come and fix her tire in the middle of the night.

During her telephone call with her mother, Hilton and Abduhl got into an argument. Abduhl asked Hilton to leave the trailer because she was insulting him and getting on his nerves (Abduhl's direct at page 221, lines 2-4). Hilton's insults were loud enough to wake Abduhl's roommate, Larry Fellows. Fellows began pounding on the wall and the door so Abduhl told Hilton to get out (Hilton direct at page 220, lines 11-23). Hilton left the trailer and sat on the porch.

Haught arrived while Hilton was sitting outside waiting for the tow truck. Hilton told him that she did not want to talk and told him to leave (Hilton direct at page 214, lines 15-20), but Haught refused because he thought she was drunk. Hilton went inside the trailer, grabbed her car keys, and went back out to the car (Hilton direct at page 222, lines 9-13). Hilton testified that Haught took money out of her car while she was in the trailer (page Hilton direct at page 215, lines 11-17). Hilton confronted Haught when she realized that her money was missing from the car. Initially, Haught denied that he took Hilton's money and continued to ask her to go to his house because she was drunk

(Hilton direct at pages 46-47, lines 20-24, 1-5).

The tow truck driver, Lee Haught, arrived at the trailer and immediately began working on the flat tire. Haught and Hilton continued to talk while Lee Haught worked on the tire. At one point, Haught went inside the trailer and apologized to Abduhl for Hilton's behavior earlier in the evening and asked him for a cigarette (Abduhl's direct at page 223, lines 13-18). According to Abduhl, Haught appeared calm (Abduhl's direct at page 224, lines 10-11).

Haught went back outside to keep Hilton company. She continued to ask Haught to leave, but he refused because he felt that she was drunk. Eventually, Haught got into his car and left. Lee Haught continued to work on the tire as Hilton sat in her car. Lee Haught overheard Hilton say that she had too much to drink (Lee Haught's cross at page 142, lines 1-5). A couple of minutes later, Haught returned to the trailer and immediately asked Hilton if he could use her cellular telephone (Lee Haught's cross at page 143, lines 15-17). Haught told Hilton that she was coming with him because she was drunk (Hilton's cross at page 45, lines 18-22). He grabbed her by the arms, stood her up, and then carried her over his shoulder to his car where he places her back on her own feet (Hilton's cross at page 48, lines 17-24). The conversation continues until Hilton decides to go with him and climbs into his car (Hilton's cross at page 54, lines 5-18). At no point did Hilton ask for help from the tow truck driver or her friends in the trailer. (Lee Haught's cross at page 147, lines 10-16). Lee Haught continued to change the tire and never offered to help (Lee Haught's cross at page 154, lines 3-14).

When Lee Haught finished with the tire, he knocked on the trailer door and handed Warnick the keys. Warnick told Lee Haught that she would take care of the situation. Lee Haught did not call 911, but rather contacted his dispatcher and said he

was finished with the job (Lee Haught's cross at page 153, lines 17-20). Warnick and Abduhl also did not contact 911 to report the incident (Warnick's cross at page 192, lines 1-8). Instead, Warnick attempted to call Hilton's cellular telephone.

At the time, Hilton believed that Haught was driving around the block. But she quickly realized that Haught was taking her to his house. Haught continued to tell Hilton she was drunk and did not need to drive (Hilton's cross at page 59, lines 2-5). As the two continued toward Haught's house in Pennsylvania, Hilton opened the door and jumped out of the car (Hilton's cross at page 59, lines 15-19). Haught stopped, put Hilton back into the car, and continued toward his house.

Hilton kicked and punched Haught and asked him to take her back. Haught continued to tell her that she was drunk and could not drive. At some point, Hilton kicked and punched the dashboard and the windshield. Eventually, Hilton broke the windshield and Haught decided to turn the car around. As Haught drives her back toward Morgantown, she forces the car off the road (Hilton's cross at pages 80-83, lines 11-24, 1-13). The two get out of the car. A calm Hilton tries to help Haught push the car back onto the road.

Two cars approach while the two are pushing the car. Suddenly, Hilton attempts to flag one down (Hilton's cross at page 86, lines 5-9). A second car stops to see what Hilton needs and a third car stops beside Haught to help get the car back onto the road (Conner's direct at 187, lines 8-12). Hilton asks the driver of the second car, Allen Conner, if she can use his cellular telephone to call Warnick for a ride. After the car is on the road, Haught walks up behind Hilton and reaches into her pocket. Haught grabs money and tells Hilton that it was for the damage she inflicted on his car (Hilton's cross at page 89, lines 2-4). Haught climbed into his car and drove away. Conner gave Hilton

a ride to a local convenient store to wait on Warnick to pick her up. The clerk at the convenient store called 911 and the Monongalia County Sheriff's department responded. Haught turned himself in and was arrested and charged with Kidnapping and 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Robbery.

The Monongalia County Grand Jury indicted Haught for Kidnapping, 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Robbery, and Domestic Battery in October, 2003. The trial began on March 9, 2004 and concluded on March 12. Judge Stone dismissed the 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Robbery indictment at the conclusion of the evidence. The jury found the defendant not guilty of petit larceny, guilty of domestic battery, and guilty with a recommendation of mercy for kidnapping.

On May 17, 2004, the Court denied the Defendant's request for a judgment of acquittal and Motion for a New Trial and proceeded to sentencing. The Court interpreted West Virginia Code §61-2-14(a) by saying that the West Virginia Legislature has determined what factors the court should consider during sentencing under the Kidnapping statute (Sentencing hearing at page 36, lines 9-12). The Court went further by stating that "the case law in West Virginia puts the responsibility squarely on the shoulders of the sentencing judge to make certain findings concerning these factors." (Sentencing hearing at page 36, lines 15-17). The Court briefly discussed a couple of the factors before focusing on whether or not the victim suffered any bodily injury. The Court reviewed the testimony and determined that Hilton suffered bodily injury and sentenced Haught to life with a recommendation of mercy.

### **III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

WEST VIRGINIA CODE §61-2-14(a) VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY BECAUSE THE JUDGE MADE

## FINDINGS OF FACT THAT ENHANCED THE DEFENDANT'S PUNISHMENT.

### IV. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Blakely v. Washington, 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004).

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000).

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068 (1970).

State v. Farmer, 193 W.Va. 84, 454 S.E.2d 378 (1994).

Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047 (1990).

Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002).

### V. ARGUMENT

WEST VIRGINIA CODE §61-2-14(a) VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY BECAUSE THE JUDGE MADE FINDINGS OF FACT THAT ENHANCED THE DEFENDANT'S PUNISHMENT.

Chesdon Haught was denied his due process and right to a trial by jury because West Virginia Code §61-2-14(a) allowed the trial court to consider factors that enhanced the Defendant's sentence. In Blakely v. Washington, the United States Supreme Court recently held that any fact that increases a sentence beyond the statutory maximum must be submitted to the jury. 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004). In Blakely, the defendant pleaded guilty to kidnapping which carried a statutory maximum sentence of 53 months. Id at 2532. However, the trial court sentenced the defendant to 90 months after the court found that he acted with deliberate cruelty pursuant to Washington law. Id. The Court ruled that this finding of fact by the trial court violated the defendant's right to trial by jury.

In the present case, §61-2-14(a) clearly violates the Sixth Amendment and the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Blakely. §61-2-14(a) provides:

Any person who, by force, threat, duress, fraud or enticement take, confine, conceal, or decoy, inveigle or entice away, or transport into or out of this state or within this state, or otherwise kidnap any other person, or hold hostage any other person for the purpose or with the intent of taking, receiving, demanding or extorting from such person, or from any other person or persons, any ransom, money or other thing, or any concession or advantage of any sort, or for the purpose or with the intent of shielding or protecting himself, herself or others from bodily harm or of evading capture or arrest after he or she or they have committed a crime shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, shall be punished by confinement by the division of corrections for life, and, notwithstanding the provisions of article twelve [§§ 62-12-1 et seq.], chapter sixty-two of this code, shall not be eligible for parole: Provided, That the following exceptions shall apply: (1) A jury may, in their discretion, recommend mercy, and if such recommendation is added to their verdict, such person shall be eligible for parole in accordance with the provisions of said article twelve; (2) if such person pleads guilty, the court may, in its discretion, provide that such person shall be eligible for parole in accordance with the provisions of said article twelve, and, if the court so provides, such person shall be eligible for parole in accordance with the provisions of said article twelve in the same manner and with like effect as if such person had been found guilty by the verdict of a jury and the jury had recommended mercy; (3) in all cases where the person against whom the offense is committed is returned, or is permitted to return, alive, without bodily harm having been inflicted upon him, but after ransom, money or other thing, or any concession or advantage of any sort has been paid or yielded, the punishment shall be confinement by the division of corrections for a definite term of years not less than twenty nor more than fifty; (4) in all cases where the person against whom the offense is committed is returned, or is permitted to return, alive, without bodily harm having been inflicted upon or her, but without ransom, money or other thing, or any concession or advantage of any sort having been paid or yielded, the punishment shall be confinement by the division of corrections for a definite term of years not less than ten nor more than thirty.

§61-2-14(a) requires a trial court to make certain findings of fact if the jury

returns a guilty verdict with a recommendation of mercy. In the present case, the jury returned a guilty verdict with a recommendation of mercy and the trial court made several findings of fact before sentencing the Defendant. Pursuant to §61-2-14(a), the trial court felt obligated to sentence the Defendant according to the factors the legislature set forth for the court to consider (Sentencing hearing at page 39, lines 13-18). The Court made a finding of fact that Hilton suffered bodily injury and sentenced Haught to life with mercy. The trial court made a finding of fact that enhanced the defendant's sentence and denied his right to a trial by jury.

The State of West Virginia has argued that the defendant received the statutory maximum sentence. The State has also argued that the defendant received the exact sentence the jury gave him. The defendant disagrees with the State's position. In reality, when a jury returns a guilty verdict with a recommendation of mercy, the defendant is looking at a 10-30 year definite sentence not a life with mercy sentence. The trial court makes certain findings of fact that can enhance the defendant's sentence to either a 20-50 year definite sentence or a life with mercy sentence. The State's position is that life with mercy is what the jury gave the defendant. However, the jury was not given these additional facts to consider. And one can only speculate as to how the jury would have viewed the additional facts. While both interpretations are different, the fact remains that the trial court still considers the same facts in both instances. Enhance and reduce are words with opposite meanings. But, both words mean some type of change. Therefore, the difference between enhance or reduce is irrelevant. Under the statute, the trial court's findings of fact can change the sentence. Clearly, the statute violates the Blakely, decision.

Another way to consider the defendant's argument is to reverse the wording of

the West Virginia kidnapping statute. If the statute was written that the defendant is sentenced to 10 to 30 definite years unless the court determines (1) that the victim was not returned voluntarily, or (2) that the victim was harmed, or (3) that a ransom was paid or yielded, then it clearly violates the Blakely decision. The trial court's findings of fact would enhance the defendant's sentence beyond the statutory maximum. Even though the West Virginia statute is not written this way, the trial court is still considering the same facts in both instances. The trial court's findings enhance or reduce the defendant's sentence. The defendant will receive the same sentence whether it is reduced or enhanced. Other than evidence of prior convictions, the jury should consider the findings of fact that affect a sentence, not the judge.

The West Virginia kidnapping statute allowed the trial court to make factual determinations which increased the maximum sentence of the Defendant. In Apprendi v. New Jersey, the United States Supreme Court ruled that a New Jersey hate crime statute that allowed the trial court to make factual findings which could increase the maximum sentence of a defendant violated the due process clause. 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000). In Apprendi, the defendant pleaded guilty to two counts of possession of a firearm for unlawful purpose. Pursuant to the New Jersey hate crime statute, the court then heard testimony to determine if the crimes were motivated by racial bias. The hate crime statute allowed the court to enhance the defendant's maximum sentence if the court found that the crimes were motivated by racial bias. Id at 2352. The United States Supreme Court ruled that other than the fact of prior conviction, any fact that enhances the penalty for a crime beyond the statutory maximum must be submitted to the jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The United States Supreme Court ruled that the hate crime statute allowed the trial court to make a finding of fact regarding an issue

that should have been submitted to the jury and the case was reversed. Id.

The West Virginia kidnapping statute is similar to the New Jersey hate crime statute because it allows the trial court to enhance the defendant's sentence after certain findings of fact are made. Under the West Virginia statute, the trial court is allowed to consider the following factors: (1) was the victim returned, or permitted to return, (2) alive, without bodily harm having been inflicted upon or her (3) without ransom, money or other thing, or any concession or advantage of any sort having been paid or yielded.

In the present case, the jury returned a verdict of guilty with a recommendation of mercy. With this verdict, the kidnapping statute allowed the trial court to consider the above listed factors. The trial court went through the factors and found by a preponderance of the evidence that the victim suffered bodily injury. Therefore, the defendant was sentenced to life with parole eligibility. The trial court's findings of fact increased the defendant's sentence from a ten (10) to thirty (30) year determinate sentence, to a life sentence with parole eligibility after ten (10) years. Therefore, the defendant's right to a trial by jury was denied because the trial court's finding of facts took the decision out of the jury's hands.

The jury returned a guilty verdict with a recommendation of mercy, but was not given the opportunity to determine if (1) the victim was returned, or permitted to return, (2) alive, without bodily harm having been inflicted upon or her, and (3) without ransom, money or other thing, or any concession or advantage of any sort having been paid or yielded. The United States Supreme Court ruled that the Fourteenth and Sixth Amendments of the United States Constitution entitle a defendant to a jury determination of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068 (1970). The West Virginia Legislature did not consider

these factors to be elements of kidnapping, but considers these factors important when sentencing a defendant. Obviously, these factors are very important in sentencing and the legislature took the decision away from the jury. If these factors are to be used in sentencing, they must be submitted to the jury. Otherwise, the statute violates a defendant's due process and right to a trial by jury.

The trial court gave the defendant a sentence that was more than the statutory maximum under the kidnapping statute. Any fact that increases a sentence beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to the jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Appendi. Under the West Virginia kidnapping statute, the defendant can be sentenced to a determinate sentence of ten (10) years to thirty (30) years if the trial court finds that any of the above listed factors are met. If the trial court finds that the victim was voluntarily returned unharmed, but with a ransom being paid, the defendant is sentenced to a twenty (20) to fifty (50) year determinate sentence. If the trial court finds that the victim was not voluntarily returned or suffered bodily injury, the defendant is sentenced to life with mercy.

In Chesdon Haught's case, the jury returned a guilty verdict with a recommendation of mercy. Therefore, without any further determination by the jury, the defendant's maximum sentence should have been a ten (10) to thirty (30) year determinate sentence. However, the West Virginia kidnapping statute gives the trial court the power to make findings of fact that can enhance a defendant's penalty beyond the statutory maximum. Pursuant to the statute, the trial court found that Hilton suffered bodily injury and sentenced him to life with mercy. Therefore, the bodily injury finding was a fact that increased Haught's sentence beyond the statutory maximum without being submitted to the jury.

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeal's earlier decision in State v. Farmer should be overruled because the United State's Supreme Court has handed down more recent decisions that clearly show that any fact that is used in sentencing a defendant must be submitted to the jury. See Appendi. In State v. Farmer, this Court ruled that findings by the trial court are made solely to determine the defendant's sentence and are not elements of the crime of kidnapping. 193 W.Va. 84, 454 S.E.2d 378 (1994). The Court ruled that the kidnapping statute did not violate the defendant's due process rights and right to a trial by jury. Id. at 85. In making this decision, this Court relied on the 1990 U.S. Supreme Court decision in Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047. However, the Ring v. Arizona decision overrules the Walton decision and says that the Court is persuaded that Walton cannot survive the Appendi decision. 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, at 586 (2002). In Ring, the Court stated that "Arizona's argument based on the Walton distinction between an offense's elements and sentencing factors is rendered untenable by \*587Appendi's repeated instruction that the characterization of a fact or circumstance as an element or a sentencing factor is not determinative or the question "who decides," judge or jury. Id. Based upon Ring, the State v. Farmer ruling that the kidnapping statute does not violate the due process and right to trial by jury because the trial court's findings of fact are not elements of the crime needs to be overruled. Clearly, the West Virginia kidnapping statute violates Chesdon Haught's due process and right to trial by jury based upon the recent rulings in Appendi, Ring, and Blakely.

## **VI. CONCLUSION**

West Virginia Code §61-2-14(a) violated Chesdon Haught's due process and right