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

V. ARGUMENT

The defendant argues that the he was denied due process and a trial by jury because West Virginia Code 61-2-14a allows the trial court to consider factors that determined the defendant's sentence (Defendant's Petition, page 12). The defendant cites Blakely v.

Washington, and the preceding cases in this line, as controlling due to the United States Supreme Court's holding in Blakely that the determination of any fact that increases a sentence beyond the statutory maximum must be submitted to the jury. Blakely, 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004). While the State agrees that this line of cases, including Blakely, does prohibit an increase in the defendant's sentence due to factual findings by a judge, that is not what happened here. The cases cited by the defendant are not applicable to this case because the trial court did not make a determination of any fact that **increased** the defendant's sentence beyond the statutory maximum. Further, the defendant's sentence was not enhanced by any factor not found by the jury.

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000), was the first in a series of cases wherein the United States Supreme Court addressed sentence enhancement based upon factual determinations made by the trial court rather than the jury. Apprendi was convicted of second degree possession of an unlawful weapon. This conviction carried a five to ten year penalty. However, the New Jersey hate crimes provision allowed the judge to find additional factors which could increase the penalty from a ten year maximum to a maximum of twenty years. Apprendi was sentenced to twelve years, two years above the maximum sentencing range on his statutory conviction. In Apprendi, the question presented was:

“whether the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that a factual determination authorizing an increase in the maximum prison sentence for an offense from 10 to 20 years be made by a jury on the basis of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.”

Id at 469. In discussing the history of decisions effecting the question at issue, the court stated:

“We should be clear that nothing in this history suggests that it is impermissible for judges to exercise discretion – taking into consideration various factors relating both to the offense and offender – in imposing a judgment *within the range* prescribed by statute. We have long noted that judges in this country have long exercised discretion of this nature in imposing sentence *within statutory limits* in the individual case.”

Id at 481. Appendi does not apply as the defendant here was clearly sentenced within the statutory limits for his offenses.

Next, the defendant addresses the Court decision in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002), and Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047 (1990), arguing that because this Court’s decision in State v. Farmer, 193 W.Va. 84, 454 S.E.2d 378 (1994), was based in part on Walton (which is overruled in Ring) that Farmer “needs to be overruled.” (Defendant’s Petition at 16). The State acknowledges that the Supreme Court overruled Walton in Ring. However, Ring can be easily distinguished from the case at bar.

In Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002), the second in this line of cases, the jury convicted Ring of felony murder because of a killing in conjunction with an armed robbery. According to the Arizona statute, the penalty on a conviction returned by the jury was “death or life imprisonment.” Ring at 584. In order to receive a death sentence, the judge acting alone needed to find sufficient aggravating factors. If an insufficient number of factors were found, the penalty was life imprisonment. The judge then made those factual findings and sentenced Ring to death. Ring could not have received a death sentence unless the judge made the factual determination that a statutory aggravating factor exists. That is not the case with Haught.

The W.Va. Code requires that anyone convicted of the offense of kidnapping “shall be punished by confinement by the division of corrections for life, and, notwithstanding the provisions of article twelve, chapter sixty-two of this code, shall not be eligible for parole.”

W.Va. Code 61-2-14a(a). The kidnapping statute then provides for limited and specifically delineated exceptions to that sentence, one of which applies to the defendant in this case:

“A jury may, in their discretion, recommend mercy, and if such recommendation is added to their verdict, such person shall be eligible for parole in accordance with the provisions of said article twelve.”

W.Va. Code 61-2-14a(a)(1). The jury in this case returned a verdict of guilty with the recommendation of mercy, and the defendant, therefore, qualifies for this exception to the life sentence.

The Code provides an avenue for a reduction from the life sentence imposed by the kidnapping statute: where the person against whom the offense is committed is returned, or is permitted to return, alive, *without bodily harm having been inflicted upon him or her*.

W.Va. Code 61-2-14a(a)(3) and (4). (Emphasis added). In the event the above criteria are met, the defendant may qualify for a reduction in sentence to either a definite term of years not less than twenty nor more than fifty, or a definite term of years not less than ten nor more than thirty. *Id.* However, the defendant did not qualify for either of the reductions in 61-2-14a(a)(3) or (4) because Stephanie was not returned without bodily harm. This finding was appropriately made by the trial court, based in part upon the fact that the jury returned a verdict of guilty to domestic battery.

In Blakely v. Washington, 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004), Blakely pled guilty to second degree kidnapping. Under Washington's determinate sentencing scheme, Blakely by virtue of his plea was exposed to a standard sentence of 53 months. However due to the specifics of his kidnapping offense, the Judge found facts supporting deliberate cruelty in the offense, which allowed the Judge to upwardly depart from the normal sentence. Consequently, an

“exceptional sentence” of 90 months was imposed, which exceeded the statutory maximum three years.

The Supreme Court explains the concept of a statutory maximum as:

“[N]ot the maximum sentence a judge may impose after finding additional facts, but the maximum he may impose without any additional findings. When a judge inflicts punishment that the jury’s verdict alone does not allow, the jury has not found all the facts “which the law makes essential to the punishment.”

Blakely at 2537. The Court again discusses that the significance of the unconstitutional upward departure in Blakely was that the “case involved a sentence greater than what state law authorized on the basis of the verdict alone,” and that “[t]he judge acquires that authority only upon finding some additional fact.” Id. at 2539. Findings leading to downward departures, as in the defendant’s case, are not the subject of the Apprendi line of cases. Justice Breyer in his dissent to Blakely addresses the issue posed by the current case very clearly “by the majority’s holding a judge may depart downward from a presumptive sentence but not aggravate the sentence.” Id. at 2554.

The Apprendi, Ring, Blakely line of cases stands for the proposition that: all factors which increase the “normal” sentence which a defendant could receive must be admitted by a defendant or found by a jury. That is not the construction of West Virginia Code Section 61-2-14a. This statute provides for a sentence of life, and instead allows for a *downward* departure, if appropriate mitigating factors are found by the judge. Therefore, clearly the normal sentence, as found by a jury, is life. The possibility of parole is at the discretion of the jury or mandatory if a defendant pleads guilty. W.Va. § 61-2-14a(a)(1)-(2).

The defendant argues that while the words “enhance and reduce” have opposite meanings, they should be considered equivalent for the fact that they both effect a change on

the sentence. However, in United States v. Booker, ___ U.S. ___, 125 S.Ct. 738, 160 L.Ed.2d 621 (2005), the Supreme Court clearly distinguishes between enhancement and reduction. The Booker Court explained the holding of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), as: "Other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." Booker at 748. (Stevens opinion). In the other opinions in Booker, members of Court discuss the internal conflicts caused by the Apprendi and Blakely decisions, which resulted in the pronouncement that the Federal Sentencing Guidelines are now declared to be advisory instead of mandatory.

One of the topics of debate was the asymmetry that resulted in the application of sentencing guidelines as a result of the Apprendi and Blakely decisions. Specifically, the Court acknowledged that the former rulings resulted in "a sentencing guidelines system in which sentencing judges were free to consider facts or circumstances not found by a jury or admitted in a plea agreement for the purpose of adjusting a base-offense level down, but not up, within the applicable guidelines range." Booker at 763. (Breyer opinion, part II). The Court opined that if the Guidelines were left as binding, the result would "impose mandatory Guidelines-type limits upon a judge's ability to reduce sentences, but it would not impose those limits upon a judge's ability to increase sentences." Booker at 768. (Breyer opinion, part IV).

The dissenting opinion further emphasizes "to be clear, our holding ... that Blakely applies to the Guidelines does not establish the impermissibility of judicial factfinding." Booker at 775. (Stevens dissent, Part I). Justice Stevens explains that:

"[E]ven in those trials in which the Guidelines require the finding of facts not alleged in the indictment, such factfinding by a judge is not

unconstitutional per se. Instead, judicial factfinding to support an offense level determination or an enhancement is only unconstitutional when that finding raises the sentence beyond the sentence that could have lawfully been imposed by reference to facts found by the jury or admitted by the defendant. This distinction is crucial to a proper understanding of why the Guidelines could easily function as they are currently written.”

Id. (Emphasis in original).

The procedure as applied at Booker's sentencing hearing required the judge to make findings that increased Booker's offense level beyond the Guidelines range authorized by the jury. Therefore, this was deemed unconstitutional. However, as the Justice Thomas stated in his dissenting opinion:

“Nonetheless, the Rule has other valid applications. For example, the Rule is valid when it requires the sentencing judge, without a jury, to resolve a factual dispute in order to decide where within the jury-authorized Guidelines range a defendant should be sentenced. The Rule is equally valid when it requires the judge to resolve a factual dispute in order to support a downward adjustment to the defendant's offense level.”

Booker at 778. (Thomas dissent).

Even assuming arguendo that the defendant's sentence in this case constituted an actual sentencing enhancement, in United States v. Gripper (an unpublished opinion) the court based its decision affirming the lower court on similar factual grounds. United States v. Gripper, 122 Fed.Appx. 15, (4th Cir.(N.C.) Jan 28, 2005). Addendum. The defendant in Gripper was convicted of bank robbery, armed bank robbery, use and carrying of a firearm during a crime of violence, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Gripper at 5. After sentencing, Gripper contended that the district court impermissibly enhanced his sentence from five to seven years for violating 18 U.S.C. §924(c), in violation of the Supreme Court's recent decision in Blakely. Gripper at 6.

However, the Court in Gripper distinguished Blakely stating that Blakely involved enhancing a defendant's sentence based upon facts not presented to the jury. *Id.* (Emphasis added). In Gripper, the Court recognized that the indictment specifically charged Gripper with brandishing a firearm, and that violation was presented to and found by the jury. *Id.* Consequently, the Court concluded that Gripper's sentence did not run afoul of the reasoning set forth in Blakely. *Id.* Similarly, even if Mr. Haught's trial court had enhanced the sentence based upon a finding of bodily harm, it would have been an appropriate enhancement, as the violation of domestic battery was presented to and found by the jury, as was the weapon offense in Gripper.